THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-001096
Case No. 2017-CP-07-00241

RECEIVED
JAN 08 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Jamar Markel Bronner,

Appellant,

v.

GEICO Indemnity Company,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Olin McDougall
MCDUGALL LAW FIRM
Post Office Box 1336
Beaufort, SC 29901
(843) 379-7000
lin@mlf.law

and

Bert G. Utsey, III
PETERS, MURDAUGH, PARKER,
ELTZROTH & DETRICK, P.A.
P.O. Box 30968
Charleston, SC 29417
(843) 818-4399
butsey@pmped.com

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the lower court err in finding Respondent had satisfied S.C. Code § 38-77-350 (Repl. Vol. 2015) with respect to its offer of underinsured motorist coverage to Appellant?
2. Did the lower court err in finding Respondent made a meaningful offer of underinsured motorist coverage to Appellant under the standards set forth in *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 354 S.E.2d 555 (1987)?
3. Did the lower court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent and against Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jamar Markel Bronner (“Bronner”) filed this action on February 10, 2017. (R. p. 12). The Complaint sought a declaratory judgment and reformation related to underinsured motorist (“UIM”) coverage under an insurance policy (the “Policy”) issued by Respondent GEICO Indemnity Company (“GEICO”). (R. p. 15, ¶ 26).

GEICO removed this action to federal court and initially filed its Answer and Counterclaim on March 8, 2017. (R. p. 17). The counterclaim sought a competing declaratory judgment with respect to UIM coverage under the Policy. (R. p. 23, ¶ 38).

Federal court remanded this action to state court with the parties’ consent. (R. p. 9). GEICO then refiled its Answer and Counterclaim in state court. (R. p. 52). Bronner filed a Reply to the Counterclaim on January 29, 2018. (R. p. 59).

Thereafter, both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment (R. pp. 62-65) and Memoranda in support of their respective positions on those motions. (R. pp. 121-158). Along with their memoranda, the parties submitted evidence relating to the motions.

This matter was referred to the Honorable Marvin Dukes, Master in Equity for Beaufort County for final disposition. (R. p. 10).

Judge Dukes heard the parties' Motions for Summary Judgment on October 31, 2018. (R. p. 70). By Order dated January 17, 2019, Judge Dukes granted GEICO's motion and denied Bronner's motion. (R. p. 1).

Bronner filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend Judge Dukes' Order on January 18, 2019. (R. p. 66). GEICO filed a Memorandum in Opposition to that motion. (R. p. 159). By Form 4 Order, Judge Dukes denied the Motion to Alter or Amend on June 6, 2019. (R. p. 3).

On July 5, 2019, Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal as to Judge Dukes' Order granting GEICO's Motion for Summary Judgment and his Order denying Bronner's Motion to Alter or Amend.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The South Carolina Supreme Court has summarized the standard of review applicable to appeals from a grant of summary judgment as follows:

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRPC; *Helms Realty, Inc. v. Gibson-Wall Co.*, 363 S.C. 334, 340, 611 S.E.2d 485, 488 (2005); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004).

"Summary judgment is not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law." *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991)). "Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied." *Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm'n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App. 2004). "However, when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted." *Ellis v. Davidson*, 358 S.C. 509, 518, 595 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct. App. 2004).

USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 653-54, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008).

Moreover, when a circuit judge grants summary judgment on a question of law, the appellate court should review the ruling de novo. *Wright v. PRG Real Estate Mgmt.*, 426 S.C. 202, 212, 826 S.E.2d 285, 290 (2019), citing *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 109-10, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

FACTS¹

Bronner sustained bodily injuries in a vehicular collision that occurred on June 24, 2016 (the “Collision”). (R. p. 183). He recovered all bodily injury liability (“BI”) coverage applicable to the motorist whose negligence caused the Collision. (R. p. 13, ¶¶ 11-12; p. 183).

On the date of the Collision, Bronner was a named insured under the Policy. (R. p. 13, ¶ 6; p. 18, ¶ 5; p. 161). He made a claim with GEICO for UIM benefits as a result of injuries he sustained in the Collision. GEICO denied his claim, contending the Policy did not include UIM coverage at the time of the Collision.

Bronner purchased the Policy on April 10, 2015. On that day, he telephoned GEICO to purchase a motorcycle insurance policy and spoke with GEICO’s employee Steven Stewart. GEICO issued the Policy that day and took payment over the telephone. There is no recording of the telephone call. (R. p. 437).

Stewart does not remember the conversation. (R. p. 435). Rather, he could only testify about the call based on his training and his review of GEICO’s records regarding the Policy. (R. pp. 435-36). GEICO’s documentation of the telephone call did not include any express offer of UIM coverage or the details of any such offer but only reflected that Bronner “wishe[d] to reject” UIM coverage without any explanation why. (R. p. 440).

¹ Because this Court must view the facts and inferences in a light most favorable to Bronner, the facts are summarized in this brief from that perspective.

On the topic of UIM coverage, Bronner remembered Stewart “saying nothing about is this mandatory or you can reject this.” (R. p. 175). He testified: “I wasn’t explained this underinsured motorist thing.” (R. p. 178). Bronner specifically denied that Stewart advised him of the premium amount to add UIM coverage to the Policy. (R. p. 184).

Thereafter, GEICO mailed Bronner a copy of the Policy, along with a declarations page that stated “insured rejects” UIM coverage (R. pp. 161, 229), although GEICO had neither obtained a signed rejection by Bronner (R. p. 452) nor – given the substance of the preceding telephone call – an oral rejection by Bronner after a substantive, meaningful explanation of the optional coverage. Bronner did not understand what “insured rejects” meant on the declarations page because GEICO did not explain it to him. (R. pp. 177-78).

Along with the Policy, GEICO included within its 44-page mailing to Bronner a form purporting to offer UIM coverage. (R. p. 238). The form failed to list the specific premium amount for the optional UIM coverage available to Bronner. (R. p. 456). Instead, the premium listed on the form for minimum limits coverage was “\$23.00 to \$780.00”. (R. p. 239). At the time GEICO sent the form to Bronner, it knew the exact amount of the premium Bronner would have to pay to accept the offer of UIM coverage. (R. pp. 334-35, 342-43, 438-40). Despite knowing the exact amount of the premium – and even though it could have included that amount on the form (R. pp. 335-36, 340-43, 443-45) – GEICO sent the form to Bronner with an imprecise premium amount that varied by \$757.00, a difference that approached the total annual premium amount for all other coverages under the Policy. (R. p. 237).

In addition, even though the Policy’s limits for liability coverage were \$25,000/\$50,000/\$25,000 (R. p. 236), the form offered UIM coverage with limits of \$50,000/\$100,000/\$25,000

and \$100,000/\$300,000/\$50,000 (R. p. 239), neither of which were actually available for Bronner to purchase. (R. pp. 450-41).

Bronner returned the form to GEICO. (R. pp. 279-83). Bronner – not GEICO’s producer or representative – checked the selection boxes on the form and signed the form. (R. pp. 180, 455).

ARGUMENT

1. An insurer’s duty to make a meaningful offer of UIM coverage.

a. General principles.

Since 1978, South Carolina Code § 38-77-160 (Repl. Vol. 2015) (or its predecessor, Section 56-9-831) has imposed a duty on motor vehicle insurers to offer insureds the option to purchase UIM coverage. South Carolina courts have interpreted this legislative mandate as requiring insurers not only to offer UIM coverage but to make a “meaningful offer” of that coverage – that is, to provide an insured “with adequate information, and in such a manner, as to allow the insured to make an intelligent decision of whether to accept or reject the coverage.” *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. 518, 521, 354 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1987).

If an insurer fails to make a meaningful offer or to obtain a valid rejection of UIM coverage, the Court must reform the policy as a matter of law to include UIM coverage equal to the policy’s liability limits. *Butler v. Unisun Ins. Co.*, 323 S.C. 402, 405, 475 S.E.2d 758, 760 (1996). When an offer is legally inadequate (*i.e.*, less than “meaningful”), the insured’s response is irrelevant; thus, reformation is proper even when an insured purchased UIM coverage with limits less than his liability limits or stated he did not desire to purchase additional coverage. *Ackerman v. The Travelers Indem. Co.*, 318 S.C. 137, 456 S.E.2d 408 (Ct. App. 1995).

In short, before examining an insured's response to an offer, the Court must inquire whether the insurer complied with its statutory duty. Because the law imposes this duty on the insurer, *the focus of the inquiry is on the insurer, not the insured.*

“The insurer bears the burden of establishing that it made a meaningful offer.” *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Leachman*, 362 S.C. 344, 348-49, 608 S.E.2d 569, 571 (2005). An insurer cannot rely upon a UIM offer by another insurer to satisfy its duty to make a meaningful offer. *Ackerman*, 318 S.C. at 142, 456 S.E.2d at 410-11. Instead, it must independently comply with the statutory mandate to make a meaningful offer. Moreover, where an insurer undertakes to make a “new” offer of UIM coverage to its insureds – that is, an offer subsequent to a previous offer of UIM, even when not required to do so – its new offer must satisfy statutory standards. *Antley v. Nobel Ins. Co.*, 350 S.C. 621, 567 S.E.2d 872 (Ct. App. 2002).

South Carolina courts have often addressed insurers' claims that they have satisfied the statutory duty to make a meaningful offer and have obtained informed rejections of optional UIM coverage. In doing so, the courts have focused on three aspects of the optional coverage transaction: (1) the insurer's *communication* of the offer to the insured; (2) the *content* of the offer; and (3) the insured's *response* to the offer.

b. Defining a “meaningful offer.”

i. The *Wannamaker* analysis.

In the seminal case *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker, supra*, the South Carolina Supreme Court adopted the following analysis (the “*Wannamaker* analysis”), which provides standards applicable to the first two aspects of the transaction:

- (1) the insurer must use a commercially reasonable notification process (which addresses the first aspect – *communication* of the offer);
- (2) the offer must offer optional coverage with specific limits (which relates to the second aspect – *content* of the offer);

- (3) the offer must intelligibly explain the nature of the optional coverage (which also relates to the second aspect – *content* of the offer); and
- (4) the offer must advise the insured that optional coverages are available for an additional premium (which also relates to the second aspect – *content* of the offer).

Wannamaker, 291 S.C. at 521, 354 S.E.2d at 556. These standards are intended to achieve the fundamental policy behind the mandatory offer provisions of Section 38-77-160: to provide an insured “with adequate information, and in such a manner, as to allow the insured to make an intelligent decision of whether to accept or reject the coverage.” *Id.* at 521, 354 S.E.2d at 556.

Because an insurer must comply with these standards when offering UIM coverage, if it fails to make a meaningful offer, an insured’s rejection of UIM coverage is not an informed response the courts will enforce.² Stated differently, an offer that fails to comply with the above standards is not meaningful and “has the legal effect of no offer at all.” *Hanover Ins. Co. v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.*, 301 S.C. 55, 57, 389 S.E.2d 657, 659 (1990); *Cohen v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co.*, 402 S.C. 66, 76, 737 S.E.2d 869, 874 (Ct. App. 2013).

To satisfy the first requirement of the *Wannamaker* analysis (the manner of communicating of the offer), an insurer must employ both a reasonable method of communication and an approach that is “reasonably calculated to bring the offer to the insured’s attention.” *Dewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 296 S.C. 150, 153-54, 370 S.E.2d 915, 917 (Ct. App. 1988).

While the Court of Appeals in *Dewart* recognized that use of the mails can be a reasonable method to communicate with an insured, it also noted this fact alone did not

² Courts have recognized a limited exception to this conclusion if the insured is a sophisticated purchaser of insurance such as a commercial insured's professional risk manager – a person experienced in dealing with vehicle insurance coverage and fully aware of the nature and purpose of UIM coverage – who is purchasing coverage for a fleet of company vehicles. *See, e.g., McDowell v. Travelers Prop. & Cas. Co.*, 357 S.C. 118, 590 S.E.2d 514 (Ct. App. 2003). There is no evidence this exception applies to Bronner.

demonstrate the insurer's process satisfied *Wannamaker*. Instead, it analyzed the circumstances under which the insurer presented the written offer of coverage to the insured in concluding that inclusion of written UIM offers as "stuffers" or "junk mail" with premium notices "was not a method reasonably calculated to draw the insured's attention to the nature of the offer." *Dewart*, 296 S.C. at 155, 370 S.E.2d at 918.

Similarly, in *Lopez v. National Gen. Ins. Co.*, 308 S.C. 342, 417 S.E.2d 864 (1992), the Supreme Court endorsed the Court of Appeals' holding in *Dewart* and ruled an insurer failed to offer UIM coverage meaningfully when it mailed a form to the insured with "several other inserts" including a separate notice that "contained a reference to an increase in coverage, which could be construed as underinsured coverage." *Lopez*, 308 S.C. at 346-47, 417 S.E.2d at 867.

With respect to the fourth requirement of the *Wannamaker* analysis (the insurer must advise the insured that optional coverages are available for an additional premium), our appellate courts have noted this means that the insurer must not only advise the insured about an increased premium cost generally but that it must "tell the insured that optional coverages are available for an additional *stated* premium." *Dewart*, 296 S.C. at 153, 370 S.E.2d at 917 (emphasis added); *accord American Security Ins. Co. v. Howard*, 315 S.C. 47, 51, 431 S.E.2d 604, 607 (Ct. App. 1993); *Jackson v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 301 S.C. 440, 442, 392 S.E.2d 472, 474 (Ct. App. 1990), *aff'd as modified*, 303 S.C. 321, 400 S.E.2d 492 (1991). Thus, in *Dewart*, the court held the insurer satisfied the fourth element of *Wannamaker* when it offered optional coverage with limits of \$15,000/\$30,000/\$5,000 for the specific premium amount of \$93.00. On the other hand, the *Howard* court held an offer form was inadequate because it did "not provide the insured with a *separately stated premium amount* for coverage at the specified limits" of available UIM coverage. 315 S.C. at 51, 431 S.E.2d 607 (emphasis added). Likewise, in

Jackson, the court held the insurer failed to make a meaningful offer because its form “fail[ed] to state *the amount of additional premium the insured must pay* for underinsured motorist coverage at the specified limits.” 301 S.C. at 442, 392 S.E.2d at 474 (emphasis added).

ii. The effect of S.C. Code § 38-77-350.

The Legislature addressed the second aspect of the optional coverage transaction (the content of the offer) and the third aspect of the transaction (the insured’s response) when it enacted S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350 (Repl. Vol. 2015). This statute allows insurers to use a form which – *if it complies with the following requirements and is properly completed and executed by the insured* – gives rise to a presumption of an informed decision regarding acceptance or rejection of optional coverage:

(A) ... The form, at a minimum, must provide for each optional coverage required to be offered:

- (1) a brief and concise explanation of the coverage;
- (2) a list of available limits and the range of premiums for the limits;
- (3) a space to mark whether the insured chooses to accept or reject the coverage and a space to state the limits of coverage the insured desires;
- (4) a space for the insured to sign the form that acknowledges that the insured has been offered the optional coverages;
- (5) the mailing address and telephone number of the insurance department that the applicant may contact if the applicant has questions that the insurance agent is unable to answer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(A) (Repl. Vol. 2015). If an insurer uses a form that complies with these requirements, it is entitled to a conclusive presumption that it made a meaningful offer of UIM coverage, provided the form is “completed by an insurance producer or a representative of the insurer” and then signed by the named insured. *Id.*, § 38-77-350(B).

Notably, while this statute addresses the content of the offer (the second part of the optional coverage transaction) in subsections (A)(1), (A)(2), and (A)(5) and the insured's response to the offer (the third part of the transaction) in subsections (A)(3) and (A)(4), it does not speak to the requirements for the insurer's communication of the offer to the insured (the first part of the transaction). As a result, the *Wannamaker* analysis remains the only standard that deals with that aspect of the meaningful offer analysis and should therefore continue to guide the courts on that topic, even when analyzing an offer under Section 38-77-350.

Section 38-77-350 sets forth the minimum requirements for a form offering UIM coverage. *Butler*, 323 S.C. at 408, 475 S.E.2d at 761. “[A] form does not necessarily constitute a meaningful offer simply because it was approved by the Department of Insurance.” *Floyd v. Nationwide*, 367 S.C. 253, 262, 626 S.E.2d 6, 12 (2005).

An insurer must comply strictly with Section 38-77-350 to receive its conclusive presumption. For example, in *Floyd*, the court considered an earlier version of the statute that required the form to include “a space *for the insured to mark* whether the insured chooses to accept or reject the coverage and a space *for the insured to select* the limits of coverage he desires” and conditioned the presumption of compliance on the form being “properly completed and executed by the named insured.” *Id.* at 262, 626 S.E.2d at 12 (emphasis in original).³ In light of this language, the court held that the “plain and unambiguous terms of the statute” required that the insured complete the offer form (*i.e.*, mark the form's selection boxes) to trigger the presumption and, because the insurer had completed the form and the insured only signed it, the insurer did not satisfy the statute. *Id.* at 263, 626 S.E.2d at 12.

³ As noted above, the current version of the statute – which was amended before the transaction at issue in this case – requires completion of the form “by an insurance producer or a representative of the insurer.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(B) (Repl. Vol. 2015).

If an offer fails to comply with the requirements of Section 38-77-350, the insurer is denied the presumption of an informed rejection; however, the insurer may still argue it made a meaningful offer under the *Wannamaker* analysis. *Id.* at 264, 626 S.E.2d at 12. Regardless, “[w]hether the analysis is focused primarily on the written form, the *Wannamaker* analysis, or both, the purpose of requiring automobile insurers to make a meaningful offer of additional UM or UIM coverage ‘is for insureds to know their options and to make an informed decision as to which amount of coverage will best suit their needs.’” *Croft v. Old Republic Ins. Co.*, 365 S.C. 402, 421, 618 S.E.2d 909, 918-19 (2005), quoting *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Leachman*, 362 S.C. at 352, 608 S.E.2d at 573.

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