THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-001096

RECEIVED
NOV 15 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Jamar Markel Bronner,

Appellant,

vs.

GEICO Indemnity Company,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Thomas H. Milligan, Esquire
(SC Bar # 12272)
Milligan & Hems, PC
721 Long Point Road, Suite 401
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464
(843) 971-6750
tom@milliganlawfirm.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-160 requires an insurer to offer UIM coverage to the insured and common law requires the offer be “meaningful.” See, Floyd v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 367 S.C. 253, 626 S.E.2d 6, 12 (2005). The automobile insurer cannot be held liable for the insured’s failure to purchase UIM coverage pursuant to statutory provisions when the insured made a knowing and informed decision rejecting coverage. GEICO vs. Draine, 389 S.C. 586, 698 S.E. 2d 866 (S.C. App. 2010). GEICO satisfied the effective offer requirement under both S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-350 and State Farm Mutual Insurance Co. v. Wannamaker, 291 S.C. 518, 354 S.E.2d 555 (1987). The offer form signed by Mr. Bronner satisfies the requirements of South Carolina statutory and common law and thereby constitutes a valid and binding rejection of UIM coverage. GEICO also complied with the common law requirements in Wannamaker.

A. CONCLUSIVE PRESUMPTION UNDER S.C. CODE ANN. §38-77-350 (2002)

The meaningful offer requirement can be satisfied in one of two ways: compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(A) or compliance with the four-part test established by the South Carolina Supreme Court in State Farm Mutual Insurance Co. v. Wannamaker, 291 S.C. 518, 354 S.E.2d 555 (1987). Cohen v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., 402 S.C. 66, 73, 737 S.E.2d 869 (S.C. App. 2013). If a form that satisfies the requirements of section 350(A) is signed by a named insured, then there is a *conclusive presumption* that a meaningful offer was made according to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(B). Because GEICO’s offer form satisfies the requirements of section (A) and Mr. Bronner signed the completed form, it is entitled to the conclusive presumption, and summary judgment is in order.

Section 38-77-350(A) makes it mandatory for insurers to use the form approved by the Director of Insurance. The statute reads that “This form **must** be used by insurers for all new

applicants.” Section 38-77-350(A) requires the form used by automobile insurers in offering optional coverages provide:

- (1) a brief and concise explanation of the coverage;
- (2) a list of available limits and the range of premiums for the limits;
- (3) a space to mark whether the insured chooses to accept or reject the coverage and a space to state the limits of coverage the insured desires;
- (4) a space for the insured to sign the form that acknowledges that the insured has been offered the optional coverages; and
- (5) the mailing address and telephone number of the insurance department that the applicant may contact if the applicant has questions that the insurance agent is unable to answer.

GEICO utilized the form approved by the Director of Insurance. The Offer Form satisfies subpart (1) of § 38-77-350(A) requiring “a brief, concise explanation of coverage” by the explanation contained on the first page of the offer form which, again, is virtually identical to the description of UIM coverage drafted by the SCDOI and included on Form 2006.

South Carolina Appellate Courts have repeatedly held that the explanation of coverage provided by the SCDI 2006 form is an adequate explanation of the coverage. Accordingly, Mr. Bronner should not now be allowed to complain that the explanation of the coverage was insufficient. SCDI 2006 has already been held to constitute a meaningful offer that is fully compliant with § 38-77-350(A). Clinton v. West American Ins. Co., 364 S.C. 113, 122, 611 S.E.2d 521, 526 (S.C. App. 2005). If the entire form satisfies the whole of the statute, then the explanation of coverage must necessarily satisfy subpart (1). Thus, GEICO’s explanation of coverage is sufficient to comply with subpart (1) of the statute.

The second requirement under § 38-77-350(A) is that the offer form include “a list of available limits and the range of premiums for the limits.” This requirement is satisfied on the second page of the offer form. In addition to the cost of the minimum limits UIM coverage, GEICO’s form included a list of a range of premiums for coverage limits that Mr. Bronner could

not purchase because he only had the minimum liability limits. There is no authority, however, for the proposition that including more than the required limits invalidates the offer. Thus, GEICO complied with the second statutory requirement.

The third requirement under § 38-77-350(A) is that the offer form include “a space for the insured to mark whether the insured chooses to accept or reject the coverage, and a space to select the limits of coverage desired.” This requirement is satisfied on the second page of the offer form which provides the above-detailed limits and premiums along with an option that reads: “I wish to reject the offer of Optional Underinsured Motorist Coverage: In order to validate your rejection of our offer of Optional Underinsured Motorist Coverage, you must also sign and date below.”

As noted previously, Mr. Bronner admitted that he placed a checkmark on the form in the rejection box. Mr. Bronner also admitted that he signed the form. By including a signature line on the form, which Mr. Bronner admits he signed, along with the box that he checked, GEICO provided *more* than is required by §38-77-350. GEICO provided *two* spaces for the insured to use when indicating his desire to reject UIM coverage: a box to be checked and a line to be signed. Thus, because Mr. Bronner actually placed the checkmark in the rejection box and signed the form, under South Carolina law, this constitutes a conclusive presumption that there was an informed knowing selection of coverage and neither the insurance company nor agent is liable to the insured for the insured’s failure to purchase higher coverage. *See, Floyd vs. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company*, 367 S.C. 253, 626 S.E. 2d 6 (2005).

The fourth requirement under § 38-77-350(A) is that the offer form include “a space for the insured to sign the form, acknowledging that the optional coverage has been offered.” This requirement is satisfied by the following paragraph contained on the third page of the offer form:

INSURED'S/APPLICANT'S ACKNOWLEDGEMENT:

By your signature, you acknowledge that you have read, or have had read to you, the above explanations and offers.

In the future, if you wish to increase or to decrease the limits of Additional Uninsured Motorist Coverage or Optional Underinsured Motorist Coverage, you must contact GEICO at either the web site or telephone number below. You will not be presented with another copy of this form when you extend, change, supersede, or replace your motor vehicle liability insurance policy.

Signature

Print Name

Date

We will answer any questions pertaining to these coverages. Please visit us at geico.com or call us toll free at 1-800-841-3000....

The fifth and final requirement under § 38-77-350(A) is that the offer form include “the mailing address and telephone number of the Department of Insurance, so that the insured may contact it with any questions that the insurance agent is unable to answer.” This requirement is satisfied on the third page of the offer form which states:

For any further questions you may contact the South Carolina Department of Insurance via either email at consumers@doi.sc.gov; phone at (803) 737-6180 or 1-800-768-3467; or mail to Consumer Services Division, P.O. Box 100105, Columbia, South Carolina 29202-3105.

GEICO's offer form satisfies each of the five requirements of § 38-77-350(A).

As noted above, South Carolina courts have held that the form used by GEICO (a revision of Form 2006), meets the requirements of § 38-77-350(A). In Clinton v. West American Insurance Co., this Court stated: “The South Carolina Court of Appeals has specifically held that the form used by [the insurer], Form 2006, meets the requirements of § 38-77-350.” Clinton, 364 S.C. 113, 122, 611 S.E.2d 521, 526 (S.C. App. 2005). In Burch v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., this Court evaluated a similar form to the one signed by Mr. Bronner and stated: “We agree that the [Form 2006] used by Farm Bureau in this case falls within the requirements of

South Carolina's statutory and case law, such that Farm Bureau made a meaningful and effective offer of UIM coverage to [the insured]." Burch, 351 S.C. 342, 349, 569 S.E.2d 400, 404 (S.C. App. 2002); *see also*, Bower v. National Gen. Ins. Co., 351 S.C. 112, 120-21, 569 S.E.2d 313, 317 (2002) ("Indeed, we note that the South Carolina Department of Insurance (DOI) has issued a sample offer form which clearly communicates [optional levels of coverage] We strongly encourage insurers to include such language on their offer forms."); Butler v. Unisun Ins. Co., 323 S.C. 402, 475 S.E.2d 758 (1996) (holding the same rejection form as Farm Bureau's complies with § 38-77-350).

Having shown that the GEICO offer form provided to Mr. Bronner and executed by him fully complied with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §38-77-350(A), GEICO is entitled to the **conclusive** presumption of a meaningful offer to Mr. Bronner and a valid rejection of the UIM coverage by Mr. Bronner that was otherwise available to him for purchase. Floyd, *supra*. Section 350(B) states: "If this form is signed by the named insured, after it has been completed by an insurance producer or a representative of the insurer, it is conclusively presumed that there was an informed, knowing selection of coverage and neither the insurance company nor an insurance agent is liable to the named insured or another insured under the policy for the insured's failure to purchase optional coverage or higher limits." The form fully complied with all requirements of section 350(A), and Mr. Bronner signed the form three separate times. Thus, GEICO is entitled to the conclusive presumption of a meaningful offer and knowing rejection of the UIM coverage.

A "Conclusive Presumption" is defined as follows:

A Conclusive Presumption or absolute presumption or irrebuttable presumption of law refers to presumption **which cannot be overcome** or changed by any additional evidence or argument. *USLEGAL, INC.*

A **conclusive presumption** is a **presumption** of law that cannot be rebutted by evidence and must be taken to be the case whatever the evidence to the contrary. *Wikipedia*.

A conclusive presumption is defined as, "A presumption that cannot be overcome by any additional evidence or argument." Black's Law Dictionary.

Even internet applications are considered to be sufficient to comply with the statute.

Traynum vs. Scavens, 416 S.C. 197, 788 S.E. 2d 115 (2016).

The Respondent would re-emphasize that:

- The law states that if a form that satisfies the requirements of Section 350(A) is signed by a named insured, then there is a **conclusive presumption** that a meaningful offer was made according to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(B).
- Mr. Bronner signed and returned the completed rejection form.
- GEICO is entitled to a conclusive presumption that a meaningful offer was made.

Because of the fact that Mr. Bronner completed, signed, and returned the South Carolina Option Form rejecting coverage, GEICO is entitled to a conclusive presumption that a meaningful offer was made. Thus, GEICO is entitled to summary judgment based upon a simple application of the law as written to the facts of this case.

B. AS A SECOND SUPPORTING GROUND, GEICO'S OFFER FORM SATISFIES THE COMMON LAW REQUIREMENTS OF WANNAMAKER.

The offer form not only meets the requirements of § 38-77-350(A), but it also meets the requirements for an effective offer set forth in Wannamaker. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has held that "the statute mandates the insured to be provided with adequate information, and in such a manner, as to allow the insured to make an intelligent decision of whether to accept or reject coverage." State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wannamaker, 291 S.C. 518, 521, 354 S.E.2d 555, 556 (1987). Under the Wannamaker test, an offer is meaningful when: (1) the insurer's notification process is commercially reasonable, whether oral or in writing; (2) the insurer specifies the limits of optional coverage and not merely offers additional coverage in general terms; (3) the insurer intelligibly advises the insured of the nature of the optional coverage; and (4) the insured is told

that optional coverages are available for an additional premium. Wannamaker, 291 S.C. at 521, 354 S.E.2d at 556. Recent case law holds that the offer form fully satisfies the statutory and common law requirements for a meaningful offer *even if* the statutory presumption did not apply. Cohen v. Progressive Northern Ins. Co., 402 S.C. 66, 73, 737 S.E.2d 869 (S.C. App. 2013).

The first requirement under Wannamaker is that “the insurer’s notification process must be commercially reasonable, whether oral or in writing.” Wannamaker, 291 S.C. at 521, 354 S.C. at 556. GEICO’s offer was given (1) by telephone, in which Mr. Bronner was informed of the additional premium for optional coverages; and (2) in written form on the UM/UIM offer form provided to Appellant. Therefore, GEICO’s form is commercially reasonable under Wannamaker.

The second requirement under Wannamaker is that “the insurer must specify the limits of optional coverage and not merely offer additional coverage in general terms.” Wannamaker, 291 S.C. at 521, 354 S.C. at 556. As listed in the previous section, Mr. Bronner was informed of the premiums for optional coverage during the telephone application. GEICO’s Option Form complies with S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-350(A), and details three optional coverages and their corresponding ranges of premiums.

The third requirement under Wannamaker is that “the insurer must intelligibly advise the insured of the nature of the optional coverage.” Id. In Atkins v. Horace Mann Ins. Co., 376 S.C. 625, 658 S.E.2d 106 (S.C. App. 2008), the South Carolina Court of Appeals held that an offer form clearly explains the nature of UIM coverage when “various options of UIM coverage limits are set out, every appropriate selection is made, each signature block is signed, *and the form adequately explains where the insured is to seek out additional information if he or she has questions.*” Atkins, 376 S.C. at 631, 658 S.E.2d at 109-110 (emphasis added). GEICO’s offer form intelligibly advises the insured of the nature of the optional coverage because it sets out various options of UIM

coverage limits and explains where the insured is to seek out additional information if he has questions. Further, the offer form completed by Mr. Bronner indicates that every appropriate selection was made, and each signature block was signed by Mr. Bronner.

Therefore, GEICO's offer form satisfied the third requirement under *Wannamaker*. See also, Progressive Casualty Ins. Co. v. Leachman, 362 S.C. 344, 608 S.E.2d 569 (2005) (holding a form allowing the insured to choose different amounts of coverage up to the amount of liability coverage "gave the insured the opportunity to make an intelligent and informed decision on whether to purchase UIM coverage"); Burch v. South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 351 S.C. 342, 569 S.E.2d 400 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding that the form met the case law requirements when the form advised the insured he could purchase UIM coverage in limits up to limits of his liability coverage).

The fourth requirement under *Wannamaker*, is that "the insured must be told that optional coverages are available for an additional premium." *Wannamaker*, 291 S.C. at 521; 354 S.C. at 556. As the list in the previous section shows, GEICO's offer form specifies the additional premium for the addition of UIM coverage: the \$25,000/\$500,000/\$25,000 option corresponds with a \$23.00 to \$780.00 range with an explanation the premium varies based on "the type of vehicle, operator(s), discounts, fees, territory and/or surcharges applied." The form also directs the insured to visit GEICO's website or call a provided number with inquiries about the exact amount of premium. Mr. Bronner was also informed of the premium for optional coverages during the telephone application.

GEICO also provided a method by which Mr. Bronner could have determined the premium for a specific set of coverage limits if they had not been disclosed to him in the telephone application. Namely, Mr. Bronner could have called GEICO at its customer service telephone

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